# INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY & MANAGEMENT CONSULTING PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT



For Administrative Purposes Only			
Ministry Contract No.: C13JTIISB02 Requisition No.:	Financial Information		
Solicitation No.(if applicable): RFP13-TD-01 Client: 125		125	
Commodity Code:	Responsibility Centre:	51938	
	Service Line:	58021	
Contractor Information	STOB:	6309/6310	
	Project:	5111111	
Supplier Name: FCV Technologies Ltd. Supplier No.: Telephone No.: (604) 662-8407 E-mail Address: Website: http://www.fcv.ca	Template version: February 8, 2012		

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

No.	Heading		Page
1.	Definition	ıs	1
	1.1	General	1
	1.2	Meaning of "record"	
2.	Services .		
	2.1	Provision of services	2
	2.2	Term	
	2,3	Supply of various items	2
	2.4	Standard of care	2
	2.5	Standards in relation to persons performing Services	2
	2.6	Instructions by Province	
	2.7	Confirmation of non-written instructions	
	2.8	Effectiveness of non-written instructions	2
	2.9	Applicable Laws	2
3.	Payment		3
	3.1	Fees and expenses	
	3.2	Statements of accounts	
	3.3	Withholding of amounts	3
	3.4	Appropriation	3
	3.5	Currency	
	3.6	Non-resident income tax	
	3.7	Prohibition against committing money	
	3.8	Refunds of taxes	4
4.	Represent	tations and Warranties	4
5.	Privacy, S	ecurity and Confidentiality	4
	5.1	Privacy	4
	5.2	Security	4
	5.3	Confidentiality	
	5.4	Public announcements	5
	5.5	Restrictions on promotion	5
6.	Material a	and Intellectual Property	5
	6.1	Access to Material	5
	6.2	Ownership and delivery of Material	5
	6.3	Matters respecting intellectual property	5
	6.4	Rights in relation to Incorporated Material	6
	6.5	Right of Province to negotiate license of Produced Material	6
7.	Records a	nd Report	6
	7.1	Work reporting	
	7.2	Time and expense records	6
8,	Audit		6

9.	Indemnit	y and Insurance	6	
	9.1	Indemnity	6	
	9.2	Monetary limitations of indemnity		
	9.3	Exceptions to monetary limitations		
	9.4	Province to notify Contractor of Loss		
	9.5	Third-party intellectual property infringement claims		
	9.6	Insurance		
	9.7	Workers compensation		
	9.8	Personal optional protection		
	9.9	Evidence of coverage		
10.	Force Ma	jeure	8	
	10.1	Definitions relating to force majeure		
	10.2	Consequence of Event of Force Majeure		
	10.3	Duties of Affected Party		
11.	Default a	nd Termination	8	
	11.1	Definitions relating to default and termination		
	11.2	Province's options on default		
	11.3	Delay not a waiver		
	11.4	Province's right to terminate other than for default		
	11.5	Payment consequences of termination		
	11.6	Discharge of liability		
	11.7	Notice in relation to Events of Default		
12.	Dispute Resolution			
	12.1	Dispute resolution process		
	12.2	Location of arbitration or mediation		
	12.3	Costs of arbitration or mediation		
13.	Miscellaneous1			
	13.1	Delivery of notices		
	13.2	Change of address or fax number		
	13.3	Assignment		
	13.4	Subcontracting		
	13.5	Waiver		
	13.6	Modifications		
	13.7	Entire agreement		
	13.8	Survival of certain provisions		
	13.9	Schedules		
	13.10	Independent contractor		
	13.11	Personnel not to be employees of Province		
	13.12	Key Personnel		
	13.12	Pertinent Information		
	13.14	Conflict of interest		
	13.14	Time		
	13.15	Conflicts among provisions		
	13.17			
	13.17	Agreement not permit nor fetter		
	13.18	Remainder not affected by invalidity		
	13.19	Further assurancesAdditional terms		
	13.20			
	13.41	Governing law		

14.	Interpretation	13
15.	Execution and Delivery of Agreement	13
	SCHEDULE A – SERVICES	
	Part 1 - Term Part 2 - Services Part 3 - Related Documentation Part 4 - Key Personnel	•
	SCHEDULE B – FEES AND EXPENSES	
	Part 1 - Maximum Amount Payable Part 2 - Fees Part 3 - Expenses Part 4 - Statements of Account Part 5 - Payments Due	
	SCHEDULE C – APPROVED SUBCONTRACTOR(S)	
	SCHEDULE D – INSURANCE	
	SCHEDULE E – PRIVACY PROTECTION SCHEDULE	
	SCHEDULE F – ADDITIONAL TERMS	
	SCHEDULE G – SECURITY SCHEDULE	

THIS AGREEMENT is dated for reference the 2 day of October, 20/2

#### BETWEEN:

<u>FCV TECHNOLOGIES LTD.</u> (the "Contractor") with the following specified address and fax number: 1100-333 Seymour Street Vancouver, BC V6B 5A6 Fax: (604) 662-8409

#### AND:

HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN IN RIGHT OF THE PROVINCE OF BRITISH COLUMBIA, as represented by the Minister of Jobs, Tourism and Skills Training (the "Province") with the following specified address and fax number:

PO Box 9802 Stn Prov Govt Victoria, BC V8W 9W1 Fax: (250) 387-1590

The Province wishes to retain the Contractor to provide the services specified in Schedule A and, in consideration for the remuneration set out in Schedule B, the Contractor has agreed to provide those services, on the terms and conditions set out in this Agreement.

As a result, the Province and the Contractor agree as follows:

#### 1 DEFINITIONS

#### General

- 1.1 In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires:
  - (a) "Business Day" means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which Provincial government offices are open for normal business in British Columbia;
  - (b) "Incorporated Material" means any material in existence prior to the start of the Term or developed independently of this Agreement, and that is incorporated or embedded in the Produced Material by the Contractor or a Subcontractor;
  - (c) "Material" means the Produced Material and the Received Material;
  - (d) "Produced Material" means records, software and other material, whether complete or not, that, as a result of this Agreement, are produced by the Contractor or a Subcontractor and includes the Incorporated Material;
  - (e) "Received Material" means records, software and other material, whether complete or not, that, as a result of this Agreement, are received by the Contractor or a Subcontractor from the Province or any other person;
  - (f) "Services" means the services described in Part 2 of Schedule A;
  - (g) "Subcontractor" means a person described in paragraph (a) or (b) of section 13.4; and
  - (h) "Term" means the term of the Agreement described in Part 1 of Schedule A subject to that term ending earlier in accordance with this Agreement.

#### Meaning of "record"

1.2 The definition of "record" in the *Interpretation Act* is incorporated into this Agreement and "records" will bear a corresponding meaning.

#### 2 SERVICES

#### Provision of services

2.1 The Contractor must provide the Services in accordance with this Agreement.

#### Term

2.2 Regardless of the date of execution or delivery of this Agreement, the Contractor must provide the Services during the Term.

#### Supply of various items

2.3 Unless the parties otherwise agree in writing, the Contractor must supply and pay for all labour, materials, equipment, tools, facilities, approvals and licenses necessary or advisable to perform the Contractor's obligations under this Agreement, including the license under section 6.4.

#### Standard of care

2.4 Unless otherwise specified in this Agreement, the Contractor must perform the Services to a standard of care, skill, and diligence maintained by persons providing, on a commercial basis, services similar to the Services.

#### Standards in relation to persons performing Services

2.5 The Contractor must ensure that all persons employed or retained to perform the Services are qualified and competent to perform them and are properly trained, instructed and supervised.

#### Instructions by Province

2.6 The Province may from time to time give the Contractor reasonable instructions (in writing or otherwise) as to the performance of the Services. The Contractor must comply with those instructions but, unless otherwise specified in this Agreement, the Contractor may determine the manner in which the instructions are carried out.

#### Confirmation of non-written instructions

2.7 If the Province provides an instruction under section 2.6 other than in writing, the Contractor may request that the instruction be confirmed by the Province in writing, which request the Province must comply with as soon as it is reasonably practicable to do so.

#### Effectiveness of non-written instructions

2.8 Requesting written confirmation of an instruction under section 2.7 does not relieve the Contractor from complying with the instruction at the time the instruction was given.

#### Applicable laws

- 2.9 In the performance of the Contractor's obligations under this Agreement, the Contractor must comply with all applicable laws.
- 3 PAYMENT

#### Fees and expenses

- 3.1 If the Contractor complies with this Agreement, then the Province must pay to the Contractor at the times and on the conditions set out in Schedule B:
  - (a) the fees described in that Schedule;
  - (b) the expenses, if any, described in that Schedule if they are supported, where applicable, by proper receipts and, in the Province's opinion, are necessarily incurred by the Contractor in providing the Services; and
  - (c) any applicable taxes payable by the Province under law or agreement with the relevant taxation authorities on the fees and expenses described in paragraphs (a) and (b).

The Province is not obliged to pay to the Contractor more than the "Maximum Amount" specified in Schedule B on account of fees and expenses.

#### Statements of accounts

3.2 In order to obtain payment of any fees and expenses under this Agreement, the Contractor must submit to the Province a written statement of account in a form satisfactory to the Province upon completion of the Services or at other times described in Schedule B.

#### Withholding of amounts

3.3 Without limiting section 9.1, the Province may withhold from any payment due to the Contractor an amount sufficient to indemnify in whole or in part the Province and its employees and agents against any liens or other third-party claims that have arisen or could arise in connection with the provision of the Services. An amount withheld under this section must be promptly paid by the Province to the Contractor upon the basis for withholding the amount having been fully resolved to the satisfaction of the Province.

#### Appropriation

3.4 The Province's obligation to pay money to the Contractor is subject to the *Financial Administration Act*, which makes that obligation subject to an appropriation being available in the fiscal year of the Province during which payment becomes due.

#### Currency

3.5 Unless otherwise specified in this Agreement, all references to money are to Canadian dollars.

#### Non-resident income tax

3.6 If the Contractor is not a resident in Canada, the Contractor acknowledges that the Province may be required by law to withhold income tax from the fees described in Schedule B and then to remit that tax to the Receiver General of Canada on the Contractor's behalf.

#### Prohibition against committing money

3.7 Without limiting section 13.10(a), the Contractor must not in relation to performing the Contractor's obligations under this Agreement commit or purport to commit the Province to pay any money except as may be expressly provided for in this Agreement.

#### Refunds of taxes

3.8 The Contractor must:

- (a) apply for, and use reasonable efforts to obtain, any available refund, credit, rebate or remission of federal, provincial or other tax or duty imposed on the Contractor as a result of this Agreement that the Province has paid or reimbursed to the Contractor or agreed to pay or reimburse to the Contractor under this Agreement; and
- (b) immediately on receiving, or being credited with, any amount applied for under paragraph (a), remit that amount to the Province.

#### 4 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

- 4.1 As at the date this Agreement is executed and delivered by, or on behalf of, the parties, the Contractor represents and warrants to the Province as follows:
  - (a) except to the extent the Contractor has previously disclosed otherwise in writing to the Province,
    - all information, statements, documents and reports furnished or submitted by the Contractor to the Province in connection with this Agreement (including as part of any competitive process resulting in this Agreement being entered into) are in all material respects true and correct,
    - (ii) the Contractor has sufficient trained staff, facilities, materials, appropriate equipment and approved subcontractual agreements in place and available to enable the Contractor to fully perform the Services, and
    - (iii) the Contractor holds all permits, licenses, approvals and statutory authorities issued by any government or government agency that are necessary for the performance of the Contractor's obligations under this Agreement; and
  - (b) if the Contractor is not an individual,
    - (i) the Contractor has the power and capacity to enter into this Agreement and to observe, perform and comply with the terms of this Agreement and all necessary corporate or other proceedings have been taken and done to authorize the execution and delivery of this Agreement by, or on behalf of, the Contractor, and
    - (ii) this Agreement has been legally and properly executed by, or on behalf of, the Contractor and is legally binding upon and enforceable against the Contractor in accordance with its terms except as enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or other laws affecting the rights of creditors generally and except that equitable remedies may be granted only in the discretion of a court of competent jurisdiction.

# 5 PRIVACY, SECURITY AND CONFIDENTIALITY

#### Privacy

5.1 The Contractor must comply with the Privacy Protection Schedule attached as Schedule E.

# Security

- 5.2 The Contractor must:
  - (a) make reasonable security arrangements to protect the Material from unauthorized access, collection, use, disclosure, alteration or disposal; and
  - (b) comply with the Security Schedule attached as Schedule G.

#### Confidentiality

- 5.3 The Contractor must treat as confidential all information in the Material and all other information accessed or obtained by the Contractor or a Subcontractor (whether verbally, electronically or otherwise) as a result of this Agreement, and not permit its disclosure or use without the Province's prior written consent except:
  - (a) as required to perform the Contractor's obligations under this Agreement or to comply with applicable laws;
  - (b) if it is information that is generally known to the public other than as result of a breach of this Agreement; or
  - (c) if it is information in any Incorporated Material.

#### Public announcements

5.4 Any public announcement relating to this Agreement will be arranged by the Province and, if such consultation is reasonably practicable, after consultation with the Contractor.

#### Restrictions on promotion

5.5 The Contractor, must not, without the prior written approval of the Province, refer for promotional purposes to the Province being a customer of the Contractor or the Province having entered into this Agreement.

#### 6 MATERIAL AND INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

#### Access to Material

6.1 If the Contractor receives a request for access to any of the Material from a person other than the Province, and this Agreement does not require or authorize the Contractor to provide that access, the Contractor must promptly advise the person to make the request to the Province.

#### Ownership and delivery of Material

6.2 The Province exclusively owns all property rights in the Material which are not intellectual property rights. The Contractor must deliver any Material to the Province immediately upon the Province's request.

#### Matters respecting intellectual property

- 6.3 The Province exclusively owns all intellectual property rights, including copyright, in:
  - (a) Received Material that the Contractor receives from the Province; and
  - (b) Produced Material, other than any Incorporated Material.

Upon the Province's request, the Contractor must deliver to the Province documents satisfactory to the Province that irrevocably waive in the Province's favour any moral rights which the Contractor (or employees of the Contractor) or a Subcontractor (or employees of a Subcontractor) may have in the Produced Material and that confirm the vesting in the Province of the copyright in the Produced Material, other than any Incorporated Material.

#### Rights in relation to Incorporated Material

- 6.4 Upon any Incorporated Material being embedded or incorporated in the Produced Material and to the extent that it remains so embedded or incorporated, the Contractor grants to the Province:
  - (a) a non-exclusive, perpetual, irrevocable, royalty-free, worldwide license to use, reproduce, modify and distribute that Incorporated Material; and
  - (b) the right to sublicense to third-parties the right to use, reproduce, modify and distribute that Incorporated Material.

#### Right of Province to negotiate license of Produced Material

6.5 After the end of the Term, the Province in its sole discretion, may negotiate with the Contractor to provide the Contractor a license (which may be exclusive or non-exclusive) for the Contractor to use, reproduce, modify or distribute some or all of the Produced Material.

#### 7 RECORDS AND REPORTS

#### Work reporting

7.1 Upon the Province's request, the Contractor must fully inform the Province of all work done by the Contractor or a Subcontractor in connection with providing the Services.

#### Time and expense records

7.2 If Schedule B provides for the Contractor to be paid fees at a daily or hourly rate or for the Contractor to be paid or reimbursed for expenses, the Contractor must maintain time records and books of account, invoices, receipts and vouchers of expenses in support of those payments, in form and content satisfactory to the Province. Unless otherwise specified in this Agreement, the Contractor must retain such documents for a period of not less than seven years after this Agreement ends.

#### 8 AUDIT

8.1 In addition to any other rights of inspection the Province may have under statute or otherwise, the Province may at any reasonable time and on reasonable notice to the Contractor, enter on the Contractor's premises to inspect and, at the Province's discretion, copy any of the Material and the Contractor must permit, and provide reasonable assistance to, the exercise by the Province of the Province's rights under this section.

#### 9 INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE

#### Indemnity

9.1 The Contractor must indemnify and save harmless the Province and the Province's employees and agents from any losses, claims, damages, actions, causes of action, costs and expenses that the Province or any of the Province's employees or agents may sustain, incur, suffer or be put to at any time, either before or after this Agreement ends, including any claim of infringement of third-party intellectual property rights, where the same or any of them are based upon, arise out of or occur, directly or indirectly, by reason of any act or omission by the Contractor or by any of the Contractor's agents, employees, officers, directors or Subcontractors in connection with this Agreement (each a "Loss"), excepting always liability arising out of the independent acts or omissions of the Province and the Province's employees and agents.

#### Monetary limitations of indemnity

- 9.2 The indemnification by the Contractor pursuant to section 9.1 is limited to:
  - (a) \$2,000,000 per Loss; and

(b) \$4,000,000 in the aggregate for all Losses.

#### Exceptions to monetary limitations

- 9.3 The limitations set out in section 9.2 do not apply to a Loss resulting from any of the following:
  - (a) bodily injury or damage to real property or tangible personal property;
  - (b) a claim of infringement of third-party intellectual property rights; or
  - (c) a breach of section 5.1, 5.2, 5.3 or 6.1 of this Agreement.

#### Province to notify Contractor of Loss

9.4 To claim indemnification for a Loss pursuant to section 9.1, the Province must notify the Contractor in writing of the Loss as soon as reasonably practicable after the Province becomes aware of the Loss provided that a failure by the Province to provide such notification will not invalidate the claim unless the Contractor is materially prejudiced by that failure.

#### Third-party intellectual property infringement claims

- 9.5 If the Loss is on the basis of a third-party claim that any element of the Material infringes the intellectual property rights of any person,
  - (a) then the Contractor must defend the Province against that claim at the Contractor's expense and the Contractor must pay all associated costs, damages and legal fees that a court or arbitrator finally awards or are included in a settlement agreed to by the Contractor; and
  - (b) the Province must cooperate with the Contractor in the defence of the claim and, where appropriate in the discretion of the Province, will allow the Contractor to appoint and instruct counsel and otherwise control the defence and any related settlement negotiations.

# Insurance

9.6 The Contractor must comply with the Insurance Schedule attached as Schedule D.

#### Workers compensation

9.7 Without limiting the generality of section 2.9, the Contractor must comply with, and must ensure that any Subcontractors comply with, all applicable occupational health and safety laws in relation to the performance of the Contractor's obligations under this Agreement, including the *Workers Compensation Act* in British Columbia or similar laws in other jurisdictions.

#### Personal optional protection

- 9.8 The Contractor must apply for and maintain personal optional protection insurance (consisting of income replacement and medical care coverage) during the Term at the Contractor's expense if:
  - (a) the Contractor is an individual or a partnership of individuals and does not have the benefit of mandatory workers compensation coverage under the *Workers Compensation Act* or similar laws in other jurisdictions; and
  - (b) such personal optional protection insurance is available for the Contractor from WorkSafeBC or other sources.

#### Evidence of coverage

9.9 Within 10 Business Days of being requested to do so by the Province, the Contractor must provide the Province with evidence of the Contractor's compliance with sections 9.7 and 9.8.

#### 10 FORCE MAJEURE

Definitions relating to force majeure

- 10.1 In this section and sections 10.2 and 10.3:
  - (a) "Event of Force Majeure" means one of the following events:
    - (i) a natural disaster, fire, flood, storm, epidemic or power failure,
    - (ii) a war (declared and undeclared), insurrection or act of terrorism or piracy,
    - (iii) a strike (including illegal work stoppage or slowdown) or lockout, or
    - (iv) a freight embargo

if the event prevents a party from performing the party's obligations in accordance with this Agreement and is beyond the reasonable control of that party; and

(b) "Affected Party" means a party prevented from performing the party's obligations in accordance with this Agreement by an Event of Force Majeure.

#### Consequence of Event of Force Majeure

An Affected Party is not liable to the other party for any failure or delay in the performance of the Affected Party's obligations under this Agreement resulting from an Event of Force Majeure and any time periods for the performance of such obligations are automatically extended for the duration of the Event of Force Majeure provided that the Affected Party complies with the requirements of section 10.3.

#### **Duties of Affected Party**

10.3 An Affected Party must promptly notify the other party in writing upon the occurrence of the Event of Force Majeure and make all reasonable efforts to prevent, control or limit the effect of the Event of Force Majeure so as to resume compliance with the Affected Party's obligations under this Agreement as soon as possible.

#### 11 DEFAULT AND TERMINATION

Definitions relating to default and termination

- 11.1 In this section and sections 11.2 to 11.4:
  - (a) "Event of Default" means any of the following:
    - (i) an Insolvency Event,
    - (ii) the Contractor fails to perform any of the Contractor's obligations under this Agreement, or
    - (iii) any representation or warranty made by the Contractor in this Agreement is untrue or incorrect; and
  - (b) "Insolvency Event" means any of the following:
    - (i) an order is made, a resolution is passed or a petition is filed, for the Contractor's liquidation or winding up,
    - (ii) the Contractor commits an act of bankruptcy, makes an assignment for the benefit of the Contractor's creditors or otherwise acknowledges the Contractor's insolvency,
    - (iii) a bankruptcy petition is filed or presented against the Contractor or a proposal under the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act* (Canada) is made by the Contractor,
    - (iv) a compromise or arrangement is proposed in respect of the Contractor under the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada),

- (v) a receiver or receiver-manager is appointed for any of the Contractor's property, or
- (vi) the Contractor ceases, in the Province's reasonable opinion, to carry on business as a going concern.

#### Province's options on default

- On the happening of an Event of Default, or at any time thereafter, the Province may, at its option, elect to do any one or more of the following:
  - (a) by written notice to the Contractor, require that the Event of Default be remedied within a time period specified in the notice;
  - (b) pursue any remedy or take any other action available to it at law or in equity; or
  - (c) by written notice to the Contractor, terminate this Agreement with immediate effect or on a future date specified in the notice, subject to the expiration of any time period specified under section 11.2(a).

#### Delay not a waiver

11.3 No failure or delay on the part of the Province to exercise its rights in relation to an Event of Default will constitute a waiver by the Province of such rights.

#### Province's right to terminate other than for default

11.4 In addition to the Province's right to terminate this Agreement under section 11.2(c) on the happening of an Event of Default, the Province may terminate this Agreement for any reason by giving at least 10 days' written notice of termination to the Contractor.

#### Payment consequences of termination

- 11.5 Unless Schedule B otherwise provides, if the Province terminates this Agreement under section 11.4:
  - (a) the Province must, within 30 days of such termination, pay to the Contractor any unpaid portion of the fees and expenses described in Schedule B which corresponds with the portion of the Services that was completed to the Province's satisfaction before termination of this Agreement; and
  - (b) the Contractor must, within 30 days of such termination, repay to the Province any paid portion of the fees and expenses described in Schedule B which corresponds with the portion of the Services that the Province has notified the Contractor in writing was not completed to the Province's satisfaction before termination of this Agreement.

#### Discharge of liability

11.6 The payment by the Province of the amount described in section 11.5(a) discharges the Province from all liability to make payments to the Contractor under this Agreement.

#### Notice in relation to Events of Default

11.7 If the Contractor becomes aware that an Event of Default has occurred or anticipates that an Event of Default is likely to occur, the Contractor must promptly notify the Province of the particulars of the Event of Default or anticipated Event of Default. A notice under this section as to the occurrence of an Event of Default must also specify the steps the Contractor proposes to take to address, or prevent recurrence of, the Event of Default. A notice under this section as to an anticipated Event of Default must specify the steps the Contractor proposes to take to prevent the occurrence of the anticipated Event of Default.

#### 12 DISPUTE RESOLUTION

#### Dispute resolution process

- 12.1 In the event of any dispute between the parties arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, the following dispute resolution process will apply unless the parties otherwise agree in writing:
  - (a) the parties must initially attempt to resolve the dispute through collaborative negotiation;
  - (b) if the dispute is not resolved through collaborative negotiation within 15 Business Days of the dispute arising, the parties must then attempt to resolve the dispute through mediation under the rules of the British Columbia Mediator Roster Society; and
  - (c) if the dispute is not resolved through mediation within 30 Business Days of the commencement of mediation, the dispute must be referred to and finally resolved by arbitration under the *Commercial Arbitration Act*.

#### Location of arbitration or mediation

12.2 Unless the parties otherwise agree in writing, an arbitration or mediation under section 12.1 will be held in Victoria, British Columbia.

#### Costs of arbitration or mediation

12.3 Unless the parties otherwise agree in writing or, in the case of an arbitration, the arbitrator otherwise orders, the parties must share equally the costs of a arbitration or mediation under section 12.1 other than those costs relating to the production of expert evidence or representation by counsel.

#### 13 MISCELLANEOUS

#### Delivery of notices

- 13.1 Any notice contemplated by this Agreement, to be effective, must be in writing and delivered as follows:
  - by fax to the addressee's fax number specified on the first page of this Agreement, in which case it will be deemed to be received on the day of transmittal unless transmitted after the normal business hours of the addressee or on a day that is not a Business Day, in which cases it will be deemed to be received on the next following Business Day;
  - (b) by hand to the addressee's address specified on the first page of this Agreement, in which case it will be deemed to be received on the day of its delivery; or
  - (c) by prepaid post to the addressee's address specified on the first page of this Agreement, in which case if mailed during any period when normal postal services prevail, it will be deemed to be received on the fifth Business Day after its mailing.

#### Change of address or fax number

13.2 Either party may from time to time give notice to the other party of a substitute address or fax number, which from the date such notice is given will supersede for purposes of section 13.1 any previous address or fax number specified for the party giving the notice.

#### Assignment

13.3 The Contractor must not assign any of the Contractor's rights under this Agreement without the Province's prior written consent.

#### Subcontracting

- 13.4. The Contractor must not subcontract any of the Contractor's obligations under this Agreement to any person without the Province's prior written consent, excepting persons listed in the attached Schedule C. No subcontract, whether consented to or not, relieves the Contractor from any obligations under this Agreement. The Contractor must ensure that:
  - (a) any person retained by the Contractor to perform obligations under this Agreement; and
  - (b) any person retained by a person described in paragraph (a) to perform those obligations fully complies with this Agreement in performing the subcontracted obligations.

#### Waiver

A waiver of any term or breach of this Agreement is effective only if it is in writing and signed by, or on behalf of, the waiving party and is not a waiver of any other term or breach.

#### Modifications

13.6 No modification of this Agreement is effective unless it is in writing and signed by, or on behalf of, the parties.

#### Entire agreement

13.7 This Agreement (including any modification of it) constitutes the entire agreement between the parties as to performance of the Services.

#### Survival of certain provisions

13.8 Sections 2.9, 3.1 to 3.4, 3.7, 3.8, 5.1 to 5.5, 6.1 to 6.5, 7.1, 7.2, 8.1, 9.1 to 9.6, 9.9, 10.1 to 10.3, 11.2, 11.3, 11.5, 11.6, 12.1 to 12.3, 13.1, 13.2, 13.8, and 13.10, any accrued but unpaid payment obligations, and any other sections of this Agreement (including schedules) which, by their terms or nature, are intended to survive the completion of the Services or termination of this Agreement, will continue in force indefinitely, even after this Agreement ends.

#### Schedules

13.9 The schedules to this Agreement (including any appendices or other documents attached to, or incorporated by reference into, those schedules) are part of this Agreement.

#### Independent contractor

- 13.10 In relation to the performance of the Contractor's obligations under this Agreement, the Contractor is an independent contractor and not:
  - (a) an employee or partner of the Province; or
  - (b) an agent of the Province except as may be expressly provided for in this Agreement.

The Contractor must not act or purport to act contrary to this section.

#### Personnel not to be employees of Province

13.11 The Contractor must not do anything that would result in personnel hired or used by the Contractor or a Subcontractor in relation to providing the Services being considered employees of the Province.

#### Key Personnel

13.12 If one or more individuals are specified as "Key Personnel" of the Contractor in Part 4 of Schedule A, the Contractor must cause those individuals to perform the Services on the Contractor's behalf, unless the Province otherwise approves in writing, which approval must not be unreasonably withheld.

#### Pertinent information

13.13 The Province must make available to the Contractor all information in the Province's possession which the Province considers pertinent to the performance of the Services.

#### Conflict of interest

13.14 The Contractor must not provide any services to any person in circumstances which, in the Province's reasonable opinion, could give rise to a conflict of interest between the Contractor's duties to that person and the Contractor's duties to the Province under this Agreement.

#### Time

13.15 Time is of the essence in this Agreement and, without limitation, will remain of the essence after any modification or extension of this Agreement, whether or not expressly restated in the document effecting the modification or extension.

#### Conflicts among provisions

- 13.16 Conflicts among provisions of this Agreement will be resolved as follows:
  - (a) a provision in the body of this Agreement will prevail over any conflicting provision in, attached to or incorporated by reference into a schedule, unless that conflicting provision expressly states otherwise; and
  - (b) a provision in a schedule will prevail over any conflicting provision in a document attached to, or incorporated by reference into a schedule, unless the schedule expressly states otherwise.

#### Agreement not permit nor fetter

13.17 This Agreement does not operate as a permit, license, approval or other statutory authority which the Contractor may be required to obtain from the Province or any of its agencies in order to provide the Services. Nothing in this Agreement is to be construed as interfering with, or fettering in any manner, the exercise by the Province or its agencies of any statutory, prerogative, executive or legislative power or duty.

#### Remainder not affected by invalidity

13.18 If any provision of this Agreement or the application of it to any person or circumstance is invalid or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Agreement and the application of such provision to any other person or circumstance will not be affected or impaired and will be valid and enforceable to the extent permitted by law.

#### Further assurances

13.19 Each party must perform the acts, execute and deliver the writings, and give the assurances as may be reasonably necessary to give full effect to this Agreement.

#### Additional terms

13.20 Any additional terms set out in the attached Schedule F apply to this Agreement.

# RECEIVED OCT - 5 2012

#### Governing law

This Agreement is governed by, and is to be interpreted and construct Thracegraphics Continues The Agreement is governed by, and is to be interpreted and construct Thracegraphics Continues The Agreement is governed by, and is to be interpreted and construct Thracegraphics Continues The Agreement Thracegraphics Continues The Agreement Thracegraphics Continues The Agreement Thracegraphics Thrace applicable in British Columbia.

#### 14 INTERPRETATION

- 14.1 In this Agreement:
  - "includes" and "including" are not intended to be limiting; (a)
  - (b) unless the context otherwise requires, references to sections by number are to sections of this Agreement;
  - the Contractor and the Province are referred to as "the parties" and each of them as a "party"; (c)
  - "attached" means attached to this Agreement when used in relation to a schedule; (d)
  - (e) unless otherwise specified, a reference to a statute by name means the statute of British Columbia by that name, as amended or replaced from time to time;
  - (f) the headings have been inserted for convenience of reference only and are not intended to describe, enlarge or restrict the scope or meaning of this Agreement or any provision of it;
  - (g) "person" includes an individual, partnership, corporation or legal entity of any nature; and
  - (h) unless the context otherwise requires, words expressed in the singular include the plural and vice versa.

#### 15 **EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF AGREEMENT**

15.1 This Agreement may be entered into by a separate copy of this Agreement being executed by, or on behalf of, each party and that executed copy being delivered to the other party by a method provided for in section 13.1 or any other method agreed to by the parties.

The parties have executed this Agreement as follows:

SIGNED on the 3°P day of 2012 by the	SIGNED on the day of
Contractor (or, if not an individual,	on behalf of the Province
on its behalf by its authorized	by its duly
signatory or signatories):	authorized representative:
Signature(s) Derek Whyte	Signature
Print Name(s)	Print Name
VP Client Services Print Title(s)	Print Title

#### Governing law

13.21 This Agreement is governed by, and is to be interpreted and construed in accordance with, the laws applicable in British Columbia.

#### 14 INTERPRETATION

- 14.1 In this Agreement;
  - (a) "includes" and "including" are not intended to be limiting;
  - (b) unless the context otherwise requires, references to sections by number are to sections of this Agreement;
  - (c) the Contractor and the Province are referred to as "the parties" and each of them as a "party";
  - (d) "attached" means attached to this Agreement when used in relation to a schedule;
  - (e) unless otherwise specified, a reference to a statute by name means the statute of British Columbia by that name, as amended or replaced from time to time;
  - (f) the headings have been inserted for convenience of reference only and are not intended to describe, enlarge or restrict the scope or meaning of this Agreement or any provision of it;
  - (g) "person" includes an individual, partnership, corporation or legal entity of any nature; and
  - (h) unless the context otherwise requires, words expressed in the singular include the plural and *vice* versa.

#### 15 EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF AGREEMENT

15.1 This Agreement may be entered into by a separate copy of this Agreement being executed by, or on behalf of, each party and that executed copy being delivered to the other party by a method provided for in section 13.1 or any other method agreed to by the parties.

The parties have executed this Agreement as follows:

SIGNED on the 300 day of October 2012 by the Contractor (or, if not an individual, on its behalf by its authorized signatory or signatories):	SIGNED on the 3.0 day of 2012 on behalf of the Province by its duly authorized representative:
Signature(s)  Derek Whyte  Print Name(s)  VP Client Services  Print Title(s)	Signature  MURRY JACOBS  Print Name  CHIEF LIANCIM OFICEN  Print Title

# Schedule A - Services

#### PART 1. TERM:

- Subject to section 2 of this Part 1, the term of this Agreement commences on October 8, 2012 and ends on October 7, 2014.
- The Agreement includes an option to extend the term by three additional one year periods, at the sole
  discretion of the Ministry, and subject to funding availability and the Contractor's satisfactory
  performance.

#### PART 2, SERVICES:

- 1. The Contractor must provide the Information Systems Branch ("ISB") with the following on an as, if and when requested basis, determined solely at the ISB's discretion:
  - a) Website/application development services;
  - b) Website/application maintenance services;
  - c) Mobile development, including websites and apps;
  - d) Other web development related work;
  - e) Online/web consulting;
  - f) Web traffic/statistic reporting;
  - g) Knowledge transfer and transition/repatriation of services.

The Contractor may enter into more than one contract in order to provide the same services for multiple Ministries.

#### 2. Website/Application Development Services | Mobile Development, Including Websites and Apps

The Contractor must perform the following work:

- To develop new websites/applications and related services for desktop computers, mobile devices and tablet computers;
- To gather business requirements, recommend creative solutions and develop implementation plan(s) including project plan(s);
- To deploy various web tools such as Google Analytics and integration of Akamai or similar service (content delivery network or "CDN"), Google Optimizer or similar, Google Search Appliance or similar;
- To provide training, education for each new website / application as required by the ISB staff, including the creation of training manuals when required.

#### 3. Website/Application Maintenance Services

The Contractor must perform the following website and maintenance support work, including:

- Content updates;
- Bug fixes;
- · Website/application updates and feature enhancements; and
- Ensure websites are fully functional and up and running 24/7. For infrastructure related matters, the Contractor will be expected to collaborate with the hosting service provider

#### 4. Other Related Work

The Contractor may also be asked to perform the following work:

- · Graphic design, image clean-up and optimization;
- Produce animations, videos, flash, etc for online applications;
- To develop and/or implement social media tools and applications;
- To continuously monitor and keep all software up to date; and
- Assist in the hosting migration of the ISB's current websites and/or applications/tools.

#### 5. Guidelines

All work must adhere to usability and user experience guidelines to effectively deliver relevant and accurate information, follow visual design and brand guidelines and meet technical requirements and ensure scalability for future growth..

In addition, the Contractor will be expected to provide:

- Maintenance of appropriate software licenses (only for what is not directly managed by the Province);
- Minimum 90-day warranty on all new work, including enhancements and bug fixes; and
- Project management personnel to work closely with the ISB.

#### 6. Government and Ministry IM/IT Standards

The Contractor will be required to adhere to the Province's applicable Information Management and Information Technology standards in carrying out the services under the Contract. A standard is a specific statement of the rules and constraints governing the naming, contents, and operations of software and hardware.

There are two types of standards, Government and Ministry, applicable to the services under the Contract. The Contractor will be responsible for adhering to the policies and procedures outlined in Government and Ministry Standards. This includes the Ministry Software Configuration Management Methodology Guide, Source Material Management Policies and Procedures, web standards, as well as Oracle Designer standards. This includes development and/or transfer of all code in the Ministry's Oracle Repository and the Ministry's source code repository. The Ministry will conduct Quality Assurance (QA) and design reviews of the deliverables, in accordance with the System Development Life Cycle methodology standards of the Ministry.

Government and Ministry IM/IT standards may be updated at any time. The Contractor is required to keep up-to-date with the applicable standards in effect during delivery of the services under the Contract to ensure adherence to the most current one(s).

Under certain and appropriate circumstances exemption from individual policies or standards may be granted by the Office of the Chief Information Officer or Ministry Chief Information Officer. Any requests for policy or standards exemption should be raised with the Ministry Information Systems Branch and will require approval in writing.

#### Government IM/IT Standards

Applicable Government Chief Information Officer standards and policies can be obtained from the following site:

http://www.cio.gov.bc.ca/

Government information security policy:

http://www.cio.gov.bc.ca/local/cio/standards/documents/standards/standards manual.pdf

#### Ministry IM/IT Standards

Ministry standards can be obtained from the following site:

http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/isbstandards

The Application Development Environment summary document located on the website provides an overview of the standard technology environment for applications and systems supported by the Information Systems Branch.

#### PART 3 RELATED DOCUMENTATION:

- The Contractor must perform the Services in accordance with the obligations set out in this Schedule A
  including any engagement letter, Solicitation document excerpt, proposal excerpt or other documentation
  attached as an Appendix to, or specified as being incorporated by reference in, this Schedule.
- 2. The following are Appendices to this Schedule A:
  - Appendix 1 Waiver of Moral Rights ATTACHED
  - Appendix 2 Assignment of Copyright ATTACHED

#### PART 4 KEY PERSONNEL:

- 1. The Key Personnel of the Contractor are as follows:
  - (a) Derek Whyte VP Client Services / Key Account Manager
  - (b) Steve Park VP Digital Strategy
  - (c) Simon Hardy Senior Creative Director
  - (d) Warren Anthony VP User Experience
  - (e) Anant Bhattacharya, PMP Senior Business Systems Analyst
  - (f) Tarmo Tammark Technical Lead/Technical Architect
  - (g) Matt Dane .NET Developer
  - (h) Kenneth Fong Web Developer/Database Analyst
  - (i) Jason Boog Quality Assurance Manager
  - (j) Karen Shim Interface Developer
  - (k) Jadyn Aguilar Studio Manager
  - (l) Terry Elliot Content Entry/CMS Specialist

#### Schedule B – Fees and Expenses

#### 1. MAXIMUM AMOUNT PAYABLE:

<u>Maximum Amount</u>: Despite sections 2 and 3 of this Schedule, \$1,000,000.00 is the maximum amount which the Province is obliged to pay to the Contractor for fees and expenses under this Agreement (exclusive of any applicable taxes described in section 3.1(c) of this Agreement).

#### 2. FEES:

<u>Fees – Content Entry</u>: For content entry, at a rate of \$65.00 per hour for those hours during the Term when the Contractor provides the Services.

<u>Fees – Other</u>: For all other services, at a rate of \$135.00 per hour for those hours during the Term when the Contractor provides the Services.

#### 3. EXPENSES:

#### **Expenses**:

- (a) travel, accommodation and meal expenses for travel greater than 32 kilometers away from Vancouver, BC on the same basis as the Province pays its Group II employees when they are on travel status; and
- (b) the Contractor's actual long distance telephone, fax, postage and other identifiable communication expenses

excluding Harmonized sales tax ("HST") or other applicable tax paid or payable by the Contractor on expenses described in (a) to (b) above to the extent that the Contractor is entitled to claim credits (including HST input tax credits), rebates, refunds or remissions of the tax from the relevant taxation authorities.

#### 4. STATEMENTS OF ACCOUNT:

<u>Statements of Account</u>: In order to obtain payment of any fees and expenses under this Agreement for a period from and including the 1<sup>st</sup> day of a month to and including the last day of that month (each a "Billing Period"), the Contractor must deliver to the Province on a date after the Billing Period (each a "Billing Date"), a written statement of account in a form satisfactory to the Province containing:

- (a) the Contractor's legal name and address;
- (b) the date of the statement, and the Billing Period to which the statement pertains;
- (c) the Contractor's calculation of all fees claimed for that Billing Period, including a declaration by the Contractor of all hours worked during the Billing Period for which the Contractor claims fees and a description of the applicable fee rates;
- (d) a chronological listing, in reasonable detail, of any expenses claimed by the Contractor for the Billing Period with receipts attached, if applicable, and, if the Contractor is claiming reimbursement of any HST or other applicable taxes paid or payable by the Contractor in relation to those expenses, a description of any credits, rebates, refunds or remissions the Contractor is entitled to from the relevant taxation authorities in relation to those taxes;
- (e) the Contractor's calculation of any applicable taxes payable by the Province in relation to the Services for the Billing Period;
- (f) a description of this Agreement;
- (g) a statement number for identification; and
- (h) any other billing information reasonably requested by the Province.

#### 5. PAYMENTS DUE:

<u>Payments Due</u>: Within 30 days of the Province's receipt of the Contractor's written statement of account delivered in accordance with this Schedule, the Province must pay the Contractor the fees and expenses (plus all applicable taxes), claimed in the statement if they are in accordance with this Schedule. Statements of account or contract invoices offering an early payment discount may be paid by the Province as required to obtain the discount.

#### 6. HARMONIZED SALES TAX (HST):

<u>Harmonized Sales Tax (HST)</u>: If applicable, the Province will pay the HST, as long as the Contractor's invoice clearly indicates:

- The Contractor's HST registration number; and
- The amount of HST being charged.

If the Contractor is an HST Registrant with the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA), then HST can be charged on fees.

If the Contractor is not an HST Registrant with the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA), then HST cannot be charged on fees.

# Schedule C – Approved Subcontractor(s)

Not applicable.

#### Schedule D - Insurance

- 1. The Contractor must, without limiting the Contractor's obligation or liabilities and at the Contractor's own expense, purchase and maintain throughout the Term the following insurances with insurers licensed in Canada in forms and amounts acceptable to the Province:
  - (a) Commercial General Liability in an amount not less than \$2,000,000 inclusive per occurrence against bodily injury, personal injury and property damage and including liability assumed under this Agreement and this insurance must:
    - (i) include the Province as an additional insured,
    - (ii) be endorsed to provide the Province with 30 days advance written notice of cancellation or material change, and
    - (iii) include a cross liability clause; and
  - (b) Professional Errors and Omissions Liability insuring the Contractor's liability resulting from errors or omissions in the performance of the Services in an amount per occurrence, and in the aggregate, calculated as follows:
    - (i) not less than \$1,000,000, if the "Maximum Amount" set out in Schedule B is less than \$500,000; and
    - (ii) not less than \$2,000,000, if the "Maximum Amount" set out in Schedule B is \$500,000 or greater.
- 2. All insurance described in section 1 of this Schedule must:
  - (a) be primary; and
  - (b) not require the sharing of any loss by any insurer of the Province.
- 3. The Contractor must provide the Province with evidence of all required insurance as follows:
  - (a) within 10 Business Days of commencement of the Services, the Contractor must provide to the Province evidence of all required insurance in the form of a completed Province of British Columbia Certificate of Insurance;
  - (b) if any required insurance policy expires before the end of the Term, the Contractor must provide, within 10 Business Days of the policy's expiration, evidence of a new or renewal policy meeting the requirements of the expired insurance in the form of a completed Province of British Columbia Certificate of Insurance; and
  - (c) despite paragraph (a) or (b) above, if requested by the Province at any time, the Contractor must provide to the Province certified copies of the required insurance policies.
- 4. Despite section 1(b) of this Schedule, if in the Province's sole discretion, the Province has approved in writing either a fronted self-insurance program or a duly licensed captive insurer as an alternative to the Professional Liability Insurance requirement set out in section 1(b), then the Contractor must maintain throughout the Term that alternative in accordance with the terms of the approval.

#### Schedule E - Privacy Protection Schedule

#### **Definitions**

- 1. In this Schedule,
  - (a) "access" means disclosure by the provision of access;
  - (b) "Act" means the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act;
  - (c) "contact information" means information to enable an individual at a place of business to be contacted and includes the name, position name or title, business telephone number, business address, business email or business fax number of the individual;
  - (d) "personal information" means recorded information about an identifiable individual, other than contact information, collected or created by the Contractor as a result of the Agreement or any previous agreement between the Province and the Contractor dealing with the same subject matter as the Agreement but excluding any such information that, if this Schedule did not apply to it, would not be under the "control of a public body" within the meaning of the Act.

#### Purpose

- 2. The purpose of this Schedule is to:
  - (a) enable the Province to comply with the Province's statutory obligations under the Act with respect to personal information; and
  - (b) ensure that, as a service provider, the Contractor is aware of and complies with the Contractor's statutory obligations under the Act with respect to personal information.

#### Collection of personal information

- 3. Unless the Agreement otherwise specifies or the Province otherwise directs in writing, the Contractor may only collect or create personal information that is necessary for the performance of the Contractor's obligations, or the exercise of the Contractor's rights, under the Agreement.
- 4. Unless the Agreement otherwise specifies or the Province otherwise directs in writing, the Contractor must collect personal information directly from the individual the information is about.
- 5. Unless the Agreement otherwise specifies or the Province otherwise directs in writing, the Contractor must tell an individual from whom the Contractor collects personal information:
  - (a) the purpose for collecting it;
  - (b) the legal authority for collecting it; and
  - (c) the title, business address and business telephone number of the person designated by the Province to answer questions about the Contractor's collection of personal information.

#### Accuracy of personal information

6. The Contractor must make every reasonable effort to ensure the accuracy and completeness of any personal information to be used by the Contractor or the Province to make a decision that directly affects the individual the information is about.

#### Requests for access to personal information

7. If the Contractor receives a request for access to personal information from a person other than the Province, the Contractor must promptly advise the person to make the request to the Province unless the Agreement expressly requires the Contractor to provide such access and, if the Province has advised the Contractor of the name or title and contact information of an official of the Province to whom such requests are to be made, the Contractor must also promptly provide that official's name or title and contact information to the person making the request.

#### Correction of personal information

- 8. Within 5 Business Days of receiving a written direction from the Province to correct or annotate any personal information, the Contractor must annotate or correct the information in accordance with the direction.
- 9. When issuing a written direction under section 8, the Province must advise the Contractor of the date the correction request to which the direction relates was received by the Province in order that the Contractor may comply with section 10.
- 10. Within 5 Business Days of correcting or annotating any personal information under section 8, the Contractor must provide the corrected or annotated information to any party to whom, within one year prior to the date the correction request was made to the Province, the Contractor disclosed the information being corrected or annotated.
- 11. If the Contractor receives a request for correction of personal information from a person other than the Province, the Contractor must promptly advise the person to make the request to the Province and, if the Province has advised the Contractor of the name or title and contact information of an official of the Province to whom such requests are to be made, the Contractor must also promptly provide that official's name or title and contact information to the person making the request.

# Protection of personal information

12. The Contractor must protect personal information by making reasonable security arrangements against such risks as unauthorized access, collection, use, disclosure or disposal, including any expressly set out in the Agreement.

#### Storage and access to personal information

13. Unless the Province otherwise directs in writing, the Contractor must not store personal information outside Canada or permit access to personal information from outside Canada.

#### Retention of personal information

14. Unless the Agreement otherwise specifies, the Contractor must retain personal information until directed by the Province in writing to dispose of it or deliver it as specified in the direction.

#### Use of personal information

15. Unless the Province otherwise directs in writing, the Contractor may only use personal information if that use is for the performance of the Contractor's obligations, or the exercise of the Contractor's rights, under the Agreement.

#### Disclosure of personal information

- 16. Unless the Province otherwise directs in writing, the Contractor may only disclose personal information inside Canada to any person other than the Province if the disclosure is for the performance of the Contractor's obligations, or the exercise of the Contractor's rights, under the Agreement.
- 17. Unless the Agreement otherwise specifies or the Province otherwise directs in writing, the Contractor must not disclose personal information outside Canada.

#### Notice of foreign demands for disclosure

- 18. In addition to any obligation the Contractor may have to provide the notification contemplated by section 30.2 of the Act, if in relation to personal information in the custody or under the control of the Contractor, the Contractor:
  - (a) receives a foreign demand for disclosure;
  - (b) receives a request to disclose, produce or provide access that the Contractor knows or has reason to suspect is for the purpose of responding to a foreign demand for disclosure; or
  - (c) has reason to suspect that an unauthorized disclosure of personal information has occurred in response to a foreign demand for disclosure

the Contractor must immediately notify the Province and, in so doing, provide the information described in section 30.2(3) of the Act. In this section, the phrases "foreign demand for disclosure" and "unauthorized disclosure of personal information" will bear the same meanings as in section 30.2 of the Act.

#### Notice of unauthorized disclosure

19. In addition to any obligation the Contractor may have to provide the notification contemplated by section 30.5 of the Act, if the Contractor knows that there has been an unauthorized disclosure of personal information in the custody or under the control of the Contractor, the Contractor must immediately notify the Province. In this section, the phrase "unauthorized disclosure of personal information" will bear the same meaning as in section 30.5 of the Act.

#### Inspection of personal information

20. In addition to any other rights of inspection the Province may have under the Agreement or under statute, the Province may, at any reasonable time and on reasonable notice to the Contractor, enter on the Contractor's premises to inspect any personal information in the possession of the Contractor or any of the Contractor's information management policies or practices relevant to the Contractor's management of personal information or the Contractor's compliance with this Schedule and the Contractor must permit, and provide reasonable assistance to, any such inspection.

#### Compliance with the Act and directions

- 21. The Contractor must in relation to personal information comply with:
  - (a) the requirements of the Act applicable to the Contractor as a service provider, including any applicable order of the commissioner under the Act; and
  - (b) any direction given by the Province under this Schedule.

22. The Contractor acknowledges that it is familiar with the requirements of the Act governing personal information that are applicable to it as a service provider.

#### Notice of non-compliance

23. If for any reason the Contractor does not comply, or anticipates that it will be unable to comply, with a provision in this Schedule in any respect, the Contractor must promptly notify the Province of the particulars of the non-compliance or anticipated non-compliance and what steps it proposes to take to address, or prevent recurrence of, the non-compliance or anticipated non-compliance.

#### **Termination of Agreement**

24. In addition to any other rights of termination which the Province may have under the Agreement or otherwise at law, the Province may, subject to any provisions in the Agreement establishing mandatory cure periods for defaults by the Contractor, terminate the Agreement by giving written notice of such termination to the Contractor, upon any failure of the Contractor to comply with this Schedule in a material respect.

#### Interpretation

- 25. In this Schedule, references to sections by number are to sections of this Schedule unless otherwise specified in this Schedule.
- 26. Any reference to the "Contractor" in this Schedule includes any subcontractor or agent retained by the Contractor to perform obligations under the Agreement and the Contractor must ensure that any such subcontractors and agents comply with this Schedule.
- 27. The obligations of the Contractor in this Schedule will survive the termination of the Agreement.
- 28. If a provision of the Agreement (including any direction given by the Province under this Schedule) conflicts with a requirement of the Act or an applicable order of the commissioner under the Act, the conflicting provision of the Agreement (or direction) will be inoperative to the extent of the conflict.
- 29. The Contractor must comply with the provisions of this Schedule despite any conflicting provision of this Agreement or, subject to section 30, the law of any jurisdiction outside Canada.
- 30. Nothing in this Schedule requires the Contractor to contravene the law of any jurisdiction outside Canada unless such contravention is required to comply with the Act.

# Schedule F - Additional Terms

Not applicable.

#### Schedule G - Security Schedule

#### **Definitions**

- 1. In this Schedule,
  - (a) "Equipment" means any equipment, including interconnected systems or subsystems of equipment, software and networks, used or to be used by the Contractor to provide the Services;
  - (b) "Facilities" means any facilities at which the Contractor provides or is to provide the Services;
  - (c) "Information" means information
    - (i) in the Material, or
    - (ii) accessed, produced or obtained by the Contractor (whether verbally, electronically or otherwise) as a result of the Agreement;
  - (d) "Record" means a "record" as defined in the Interpretation Act;
  - (e) "Sensitive Information" means
    - (i) Information that is "personal information" as defined in the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, or
    - (ii) any other Information specified as "Sensitive Information" in Appendix G6, if attached; and
  - (f) "Services Worker" means an individual involved in providing the Services for or on behalf of the Contractor and, for greater certainty, may include
    - (i) the Contractor or a subcontractor if an individual, or
    - (ii) an employee or volunteer of the Contractor or of a subcontractor.

#### Schedule contains additional obligations

2. The obligations of the Contractor in this Schedule are in addition to any other obligation in the Agreement or the schedules attached to it relating to security including, without limitation, the obligations of the Contractor in the Privacy Protection Schedule, if attached.

#### Services Worker confidentiality agreements

3. The Contractor must not permit a Services Worker who is an employee or volunteer of the Contractor to have access to Sensitive Information unless the Services Worker has first entered into a confidentiality agreement with the Contractor to keep Sensitive Information confidential on substantially similar terms as those that apply to the Contractor under the Agreement.

#### Services Worker security screening

4. The Contractor may only permit a Services Worker who is an employee or a volunteer of the Contractor to have access to Sensitive Information or otherwise be involved in providing the Services if, after having subjected the Services Worker to the personnel security screening requirements set out in Appendix G1 and any additional requirements the Contractor may consider appropriate, the Contractor is satisfied that the Services Worker does not constitute an unreasonable security risk. The Contractor must create, obtain and retain Records documenting the Contractor's compliance with the security screening requirements set out in Appendix G1 in accordance with the provisions of that appendix.

#### Services Worker activity logging

- 5. Subject to section 6, the Contractor must create and maintain detailed Records logging the activities of all Service Workers in relation to:
  - (a) their access to Sensitive Information; and
  - (b) other matters specified by the Province in writing for the purposes of this section.
- 6. The Records described in section 5 must be made and maintained in a manner, and contain information, specified in Appendix G2, if attached.

#### Facilities and Equipment protection and access control

- 7. The Contractor must create, maintain and follow a documented process to:
  - (a) protect Facilities and Equipment of the Contractor required by the Contractor to provide the Services from loss, damage or any other occurrence that may result in any of those Facilities and Equipment being unavailable when required to provide the Services; and
  - (b) limit access to Facilities and Equipment of the Contractor
    - (i) being used by the Contractor to provide the Services, or
    - (ii) that may be used by someone to access Information

to those persons who are authorized to have that access and for the purposes for which they are authorized, which process must include measures to verify the identity of those persons.

8. If the Province makes available to the Contractor any Facilities or Equipment of the Province for the use of the Contractor in providing the Services, the Contractor must comply with any policies and procedures provided to it by the Province on acceptable use, protection of, and access to, such Facilities or Equipment.

#### Sensitive Information access control

- 9. The Contractor must:
  - (a) create, maintain and follow a documented process for limiting access to Sensitive Information to those persons who are authorized to have that access and for the purposes for which they are authorized, which process must include measures to verify the identity of those persons; and
  - (b) comply with the information access control requirements set out in Appendix G3, if attached.

#### **Integrity of Information**

- 10. The Contractor must:
  - (a) create, maintain and follow a documented process for maintaining the integrity of Information while possessed or accessed by the Contractor; and
  - (b) comply with the information integrity requirements set out in Appendix G4, if attached.
- 11. For the purposes of section 10, maintaining the integrity of Information means that, except to the extent expressly authorized by the Agreement or approved in writing by the Province, the Information has:
  - (a) remained as complete as when it was acquired or accessed by the Contractor; and
  - (b) not been altered in any material respect.

#### Documentation of changes to processes

12. The Contractor must create and maintain detailed Records logging any changes it makes to the processes described in sections 7, 9 and 10.

#### Notice of security breaches

- 13. If Contractor becomes aware that:
  - (a) unauthorized access, collection, use, disclosure, alteration or disposal of Information or Records containing Information; or
  - (b) unauthorized access to Facilities or Equipment

has occurred or is likely to occur (whether or not related to a failure by the Contractor to comply with this Schedule or the Agreement), the Contractor must immediately notify the Province of the particulars of that occurrence or likely occurrence. If the Contractor provides a notification under this section other than in writing, that notification must be confirmed in writing to the Province as soon as it is reasonably practicable for the Contractor to do so.

#### Review of security breaches

14. If the Province decides to conduct a review of a matter described in section 13 (whether or not the matter came to the attention of the Province as a result of a notification under section 13), the Contractor must, on the request of the Province, participate in the review to the extent that it is reasonably practicable for the Contractor to do so.

#### Retention of Records

15. Unless the Agreement otherwise specifies, the Contractor must retain all Records in the Contractor's possession that contain Information until directed by the Province in writing to dispose of them or deliver them as specified in the direction.

#### Storage of Records

16. Until disposed of or delivered in accordance with section 15, the Contractor must store any Records in the Contractor's possession that contain Information in accordance with the provisions of Appendix G5, if attached.

#### Audit

- 17. In addition to any other rights of inspection the Province may have under the Agreement or under statute, the Province may, at any reasonable time and on reasonable notice to the Contractor, enter on the Contractor's premises to inspect and, at the Province's discretion, copy:
  - (a) any Records in the possession of the Contractor containing Information; or
  - (b) any of the Contractor's Information management policies or processes (including the processes described in sections 7, 9 and 10 and the logs described in sections 5 and 12) relevant to the Contractor's compliance with this Schedule

and the Contractor must permit, and provide reasonable assistance to, the exercise by the Province of the Province's rights under this section.

#### **Termination of Agreement**

18. In addition to any other rights of termination which the Province may have under the Agreement or otherwise at law, the Province may, subject to any provisions in the Agreement establishing mandatory cure periods for defaults by the Contractor, terminate the Agreement by giving written notice of such termination to the Contractor, upon any failure of the Contractor to comply with this Schedule in a material respect.

#### Interpretation

- 19. In this Schedule, unless otherwise specified:
  - (a) references to sections are to sections of this Schedule; and
  - (b) references to appendices are to the appendices attached to this Schedule.
- 20. Any reference to the "Contractor" in this Schedule includes any subcontractor retained by the Contractor to perform obligations under the Agreement and the Contractor must ensure that any such subcontractors comply with this Schedule.
- 21. The appendices attached to this Schedule are part of this Schedule.
- 22. If there is a conflict between a provision in an appendix attached to this Schedule and any other provision of this Schedule, the provision in the appendix is inoperative to the extent of the conflict unless the appendix states that it operates despite a conflicting provision of this Schedule.
- 23. If there is a conflict between:
  - (a) a provision of the Agreement, this Schedule or an appendix attached to this Schedule; and
  - (b) a documented process required by this Schedule to be created or maintained by the Contractor the provision of the Agreement, Schedule or appendix will prevail to the extent of the conflict.
- 24. The obligations of the Contractor in this Schedule will survive the termination of the Agreement.

# SCHEDULE G - Appendix G1 - Security screening requirements

The personnel security screening requirements set out in this Appendix G1 are for the purpose of assisting the Contractor determine whether or not a Services Worker constitutes an unreasonable security risk.

#### Verification of name, date of birth and address

1. The Contractor must verify the name, date of birth and current address of a Services Worker by viewing at least one piece of "primary identification" of the Services Worker and at least one piece of "secondary identification" of the Services Worker,\* as described in the table following this section. The Contractor must obtain or create, as applicable, Records of all such verifications and retain a copy of those Records. For a Services Worker from another province or jurisdiction, reasonably equivalent identification documents are acceptable.

Primary Identification	Secondary Identification	
Issued by ICBC:  B.C. driver's licence or learner's licence (must have photo) B.C. Identification (BCID) card  Issued by provincial or territorial government: Canadian birth certificate  Issued by Government of Canada:  Canadian Citizenship Card Permanent Resident Card Canadian Record of Landing/Canadian Immigration Identification Record	<ul> <li>School ID card (student card)</li> <li>Bank card (only if holder's name is on card)</li> <li>Credit card (only if holder's name is on card)</li> <li>Passport</li> <li>Foreign birth certificate (a baptismal certificate is not acceptable)</li> <li>Canadian or U.S. driver's licence</li> <li>Naturalization certificate</li> <li>Canadian Forces identification</li> <li>Police identification</li> <li>Foreign Affairs Canada or consular identification</li> <li>Vehicle registration (only if owner's signature is shown)</li> <li>Picture employee ID card</li> <li>Firearms Acquisition Certificate</li> <li>Social Insurance Card (only if has signature strip)</li> <li>B.C. CareCard</li> <li>Native Status Card</li> <li>Parole Certificate ID</li> <li>Correctional Service Conditional Release Card</li> </ul>	

<sup>\*</sup>It is not necessary that each piece of identification viewed by the Contractor contains the name, date of birth and current address of the Services Worker. It is sufficient that, in combination, the identification viewed contains that information.

#### Verification of education and professional qualifications

2. The Contractor must verify, by reasonable means, any relevant education and professional qualifications of a Services Worker, obtain or create, as applicable, Records of all such verifications, and retain a copy of those Records.

#### Verification of employment history and reference checks

3. The Contractor must verify, by reasonable means, any relevant employment history of a Services Worker, which will generally consist of the Contractor requesting that a Services Worker provide employment references and the Contractor contacting those references. If a Services Worker has no relevant employment history, the Contractor must seek to verify the character or other relevant personal characteristics of the Services Worker by requesting the Services Worker to provide one or more personal references and contacting those references. The Contractor must obtain or create, as applicable, Records of all such verifications and retain a copy of those Records.

#### Security interview

4. The Contractor must allow the Province to conduct a security-focused interview with a Services Worker if the Province identifies a reasonable security concern and notifies the Contractor it wishes to do so.

#### Criminal history check

5. The Contractor must arrange for and retain documented results of a criminal history check on a Services Worker obtained through the Services Worker's local policing agency. Criminal history checks must be repeated as necessary to ensure that at all times the most recent criminal history check on a Services Worker was completed within the previous five years.



# Assignment of Copyright

# Contract # C13JTIISB02

Contractor Name: FCV Technologies Ltd.

I, Derek Whyle, of FCV Technologies H., the Contractor, in an (Contractor Contact) (Contractor Legal Entity)			
Agreement dated October 3, 2012 with HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN in			
Right of the Province of British Columbia as represented by the Minister of			
Jobs, Tourism and Skills Training (the "Province"), in consideration of the			
sum of \$1,000,000.00 payable pursuant to the Agreement set out above, do hereby assign			
to the Province, all of my rights in the copyright in the Material described in the			
Agreement and submitted with this assignment.			
Executed at Victoria, British Columbia, this 3°D day of October, 2012.  SIGNED AND DELIVERED in the ) presence of:  (Signature of Witness)  (Printed Name of Witness)  (Signature of Authorized Signatory)			



# Waiver of Moral Rights

(Signature of Individual Waiving Moral Rights)

To be completed and signed by the individual who is waiving moral rights, and returned to the Province.

To be completed and signed by the individual who is waiving motal rights, and i	retorned to me i	-10V#R&.
I, Derek Whyte.	, (circle one)	employee
(Name of Individual)		sole proprietor
		subcontractor
		subcontractor's employee ·
·		director and/or officer
of FCV Technologies Ltd., (Name of Firm, Company, Society	or Institution	)
and an author of the Material, as that term is defined in the Number C13JTIISB02) for Ministry of Community, Sport and om Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and State (Client Name and Type of Service)	Province of Cultural Kills To or Project)	fBC Agreement (Contract al Development General Services Agreement
in consideration of my employment, hereby waive, in favo of British Columbia (the "Province"), all my moral rights e amended from time to time, in the Material. I further agree against the Province, or its servants, agents or employees v	our of Her Mestablished to enot to instablished with respect	Tajesty the Queen in Right under the Copyright Act, as itute legal proceedings to these moral rights.
SIGNED this day of October 3 RP (Signing Date)	2012	
SIGNED AND DELIVERED in the presence) of:  (Signature of Witness)	<i>?</i> •	

FAD 09 09/02

Contract #: C13JTIISB02

BE	TWEEN				
	HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN IN RIGH represented by	IT OF THE PROVINCE OF BRITISH COLUMBIA.			
	the Minister of Jobs, Tourism a	nd Skills Training			
	(the "Province", "we", "us", or "our", as	applicable)			
AN	D				
	FCV Technologies Ltd.				
	1100 – 333 Seymour Street	CZIVED			
	Vancouver, BC V6B 5A6	WW - 7 200			
		S CONTROLL SHOW			
		EMPIRITY OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & EMPIRITY OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & EMPIRITY OF TOURISM CULTURE & THE ARTS			
	(the "Contractor" "you" or "your" as app	olicable)			
DΛ	CKGROUND				
DA	CNGNOUND				
Α.	The parties entered into an agreement dated October (the "Agreement").	3rd, 2012, contract number C13JTIISB02			
В.	The Parties have agreed to modify the Agreement.				
AGI	REEMENT				
The	parties agree as follows:				
(1)	That the maximum amount included in paragraph 1 of The revised total aggregate contract value is \$2,000,00				
(2)	In all other respects, the Agreement is confirmed.				
SIC	SNED AND DELIVERED on the TTN day	SIGNED AND DELIVERED on the			
of	March, 2013 on behalf of the	day of MARCH, 2013 by or on			
Pro	ovince by its duly authorized representative:	behalf of the Contractor (or by its authorized signatory			
Sig	nature:	or signatories if the Contractor is a corporation)  Signature:			
•	nt name: Murray JACORS	Print name: JOHANN STARKE			

Contract #: C13JTIISB02

BET	<b>WEEN</b>			
		HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN IN RIGHT OF represented by	THE PROVINCE OF BRITISH COLUMBIA.	
		the Minister of Jobs, Tourism and Skil	ls Training	···
		(the "Province", "we", "us", or "our", as applica-	able)	
AND	)			
		FCV Technologies Ltd.		
		1100 – 333 Seymour Street Vancouver, BC V6B 5A6		
		(the "Contractor" "you" or "your" as applicable	)	
BAC	KGROUND			
A.	The parties ent	ered into an agreement dated October 3rd nt").	, 20 <u>12</u> , contract number C13JTIi	SB02
В.	The Parties ha	ve agreed to modify the Agreement.		
AGF	REEMENT			
The	parties agree as	s follows:		
(1)	(1) Increase the maximum amount payable by \$1,000,000 from \$2,000,000. The revised total aggregate contract value is \$3,000,000.			
(2)	in all other rest	pects, the Agreement is confirmed.		
	SNED AND DEL	D.W	SIGNED AND DELIVERED on the 30	) <sup>TH</sup>
of Pro	wince by its duly	on behalf of the authorized representative:	behalf of the Contractor (or by its authorized	by or on
riu	ivilice by its duly	authorized representative.	or signatories if the Contractor is a corporation	
Sig	nature:		Signature:	
_	nt name:	hupray JAEOBS	Print name: Derek Why	8
				=

BE		HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN IN RIGHT OF T	HE PROVINCE OF BF	RITISH COLUMBIA.
	Г	represented by the Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and Skil	ls Training	
	(	the "Province", "we", "us", or "our", as applica		
ANI	D			
	F	FCV Technologies Ltd.		
	1	1100 – 333 Seymour Street		
	,	Vancouver, BC V6B 5A6		
	(	the "Contractor" "you" or "your" as applicable		
D44				
BAG	CKGROUND			
A.	The parties enter	red into an agreement dated October 3rd	, 20 <u>12</u> (agı	reement # C13JTIISB02)
	and subsequent	amendments dated March 7, 2013 and May	31, 2013.	rg.
B.	The Parties have	e agreed to modify the Agreement.		
			and the life	
AGI	REEMENT	. S Line 1971 - B	Nazalia (10 pera) Perilika (14 aprilia) dalah Perilika (15 aprilia)	
	e parties agree as t	·		
(1)	,	ximum amount payable by \$2,000,000 from \$	3 000 000. The revises	d total aggregate contract value is
(1)	\$5,000,000.	minum amount payable by \$2,000,000 nom \$	5,000,000. The revised	a total aggregate contract value is
(2)	In all other respe	ects, the Agreement is confirmed.		
SIC	GNED AND DELIV	/ERED on the ろい day	SIGNED AND DELIVE	ERED on the 2
of	OGOBER	6Wa ama	day of OCTOBE	
Pro	ovince by its duly	authorized representative:		or (or by its authorized signatory
		M	-	ontractor is a corporation)
Sig	gnature:/	1 . T	Signature:	
Pri	int name:	WARRY JEBBS	Print name:	7(ANN STARKETS Page 41

Page 42

BE.	TWEEN		
		represented by	THE PROVINCE OF BRITISH COLUMBIA.
		the Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and S	
		(the "Province", "we", "us", or "our", as appli	icable)
ΑN	D		
		FCV Technologies Ltd.	
		1100 – 333 Seymour Street	
		Vancouver, BC V6B 5A6	
		(the "Contractor" "you" or "your" as applicab	ole)
BA	CKGROUND		
Α.	A. The parties entered into an agreement dated October 3rd, 20 12(agreement # C13JTIIS		
	and subsequen	t amendments dated March 7, 2013, May 3 <sup>-</sup>	1, 2013 and October 3, 2013.
В.	The Parties have agreed to modify the Agreement.		RECEIVED
			(afficial dylab) (alternation) (all the contract of the contra
۸.	DEEMENT		ATR 16784
AGREEMENT			FINANCIAL OPERATIONS  MINISTRY OF COLEMNITY DEVELOPMENT 8
The parties agree as follows:			
(1) Increase the maximum amount payable by \$2,000,000 from \$5,000,000. The revised total aggregate contract value is \$7,000,000.			
(2)	In all other resp	ects, the Agreement is confirmed.	
	·	•	
SIGNED AND DELIVERED on the day			SIGNED AND DELIVERED on the
of APRIL , 2014 on behalf of the			day of APRIL , 2014 by or on
Province by its duly authorized representative:			behalf of the <b>Contractor</b> (or by its authorized signatory
			or signatories if the Contractor is a corporation)
Signature:			Signature:
Pri	int name:	TOMANN STARKE	Print name: NARM TAGES 1 00145